IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NOS. 84,385 and 84,386  
(Consolidated)

IN RE: THE ESTATE OF  
CHARLES W. SMITH, Deceased

|                               |   |                            |
|-------------------------------|---|----------------------------|
| DALE S. WILSON and HAROLD     | ) |                            |
| "BUDDY" JIMMISON, CO-PERSONAL | ) | ON APPEAL FROM THE         |
| REPRESENTATIVES, H.H. ADAMS,  | ) | DISTRICT COURT OF          |
| FLORA C. JONES, LOUISE G.     | ) | APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT,    |
| SMITH, FRANK O. YOUNG, ALMA   | ) | STATE OF FLORIDA           |
| YOUNG, his wife, CLYDE S.     | ) |                            |

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

### A. Procedural Posture In This Court.

On September 21, 1994, petitioners filed a notice of appeal invoking this Court's mandatory jurisdiction because the First District Court of Appeal held that section 95.11(3)(b), Florida Statutes (1991), was unconstitutional as applied. Petitioners filed a separate notice to invoke the Court's discretionary jurisdiction because the First District's decision expressly and directly conflicts with the Fifth District's decision in King v. Estate of Anderson, 519 So.2d 67 (Fla.5th DCA 1988).

By order dated September 22, 1994, this Court consolidated the appeal and the discretionary review notice. On February 2, 1995, this Court accepted jurisdiction of both the appeal based on mandatory jurisdiction and the notice invoking discretionary jurisdiction. The Court has set oral argument on these consolidated cases for Monday, June 5, 1995.

### B. Proceedings Below And The Facts Of This Case.

Petitioners seek review of the decision of the First District Court of Appeal, In re Estate of Smith, 640 So.2d 1152 (Fla.1st DCA 1994), in which the First District



reversed the trial court's final summary judgment which held that respondent Scruggs had not established any of the three alternatives available under section 732.108(2), Florida Statutes (1991), necessary to prove she was the natural daughter of the decedent, Charles W. Smith ("Decedent"), for probate purposes. (R.166-67).<sup>1</sup>

The First District, citing "both statutory construction grounds and constitutional grounds," held that the trial court erred in concluding that section 95.11(3)(b), Florida Statutes (1991), which requires that actions "relating to the determination of paternity" be brought within four years "with the time running from the date the child reaches the age of majority," barred Scruggs from seeking an adjudication of paternity in Decedent's probate proceeding. Estate of Smith, 640 So.2d at 1156. This Court has jurisdiction. Art. V, § 3(b)(1), Fla. Const.; Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(1)(A)(ii); Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.; and Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(ii) and (iv).

Respondent Scruggs was born out of wedlock in 1932. Her birth certificate lists her parents as "Emily Isabel Johns" and "Charles Smith," age twenty, birthplace "unknown." (R.22). Decedent Charles W. Smith was born in

---

<sup>1</sup> "R. \_\_\_\_" refers to the record on appeal.

1911 at Altamaha, Georgia, and was twenty-one when Scruggs was born. (R.39). During Decedent's lifetime, Scruggs never made any claim of paternity. Decedent died January 18, 1992. On January 28, 1992, his Last Will And Testament ("Will") was admitted to probate. (R.13). Scruggs was not a beneficiary under the Will. On April 20, 1992, Scruggs filed a "Petition for Revocation of Probate and Letters of Administration" (R.17-22) in which she alleged that Decedent lacked testamentary capacity to make his Will and that the Will was the product of undue influence. For the first time, Scruggs, then sixty years old, alleged that she was the natural daughter of the Decedent and sought to inherit under the intestacy laws if she was successful in revoking the Will.

The personal representatives moved to dismiss the petition for revocation, claiming that Scruggs had no standing to challenge the Will because she was not an heir under the intestacy laws. (R.30-33). The motion contended that Scruggs was precluded from seeking an adjudication of paternity in the probate proceeding because her time to seek such an adjudication had expired under section 95.11(3)(b), Florida Statutes (1991), which provides that such an adjudication must be sought within four years after the

claimant reaches the age of majority.<sup>2</sup> The trial court granted the motion to dismiss holding, inter alia, that "[a]djudication of paternity in this cause is barred by the Statute of Limitations in Florida Statute Section 95.11(3)(b)." (R.39-40).<sup>3</sup>

Scruggs then filed an amended petition (R.42-48), in which she, for the first time, alleged that Decedent had acknowledged paternity in writing (which, if proven, would have been another basis for establishing paternity in probate pursuant to section 732.108(2)(c), Florida Statutes (1991)). Because this new allegation arguably raised factual issues which could not be determined on a motion to dismiss, the trial court permitted both parties to engage in discovery and to submit legal memoranda, including further briefing on the statute of limitations issue. (E.g., R.58-68, 70-71, 86-95, and 142-159). Petitioners then filed a motion for summary judgment (R.119-121) and, after receiving affidavits, additional legal memoranda and conducting a

---

<sup>2</sup> Scruggs reached majority in 1953. Estate of Smith, 640 So.2d at 1155. Before 1973, the age of majority in Florida was 21 years of age. Daughtery v. Daughtery, 308 So.2d 24, 25 (Fla.1975). After 1973, age 18 became the age of majority. Ch. 73-21, § 1, at 59, Laws of Fla.

<sup>3</sup> Scruggs moved for rehearing of the trial court's order granting the motion to dismiss. (R.41). After hearing oral argument and considering memoranda of law, the trial court denied Scruggs' motion for rehearing. (R.117-18).

hearing (R.129-130, 138-142, 149-158, and 164-65), the trial court granted the motion for summary judgment:

[N]one of the three alternatives under Florida Statutes Section 732.108(2) can be met to establish [Scruggs] as a potential heir, and [Scruggs] is not an interested party to challenge decedent's Will because:

(1) There is no genuine factual issue as to [Scruggs'] allegation that the decedent acknowledged paternity of [Scruggs] in writing due to [Scruggs'] failure to submit any substantiation for that allegation;<sup>4</sup>

(2) [Scruggs] has acknowledged that her mother was never married to the decedent and that the decedent was never adjudicated to be her father; and

(3) Adjudication of paternity is barred by the Statute of Limitations. (R.166-67).

The trial court, therefore, entered final judgment in favor of the personal representatives on Scruggs' claims. (R.166-67).

On appeal, the First District reversed:

---

<sup>4</sup> Scruggs did not appeal the trial court's holding that she had failed to prove that the Decedent acknowledged her in writing as his daughter. The only issues Scruggs appealed to the First District concerned Scruggs' inability to adjudicate paternity in the probate proceeding pursuant to section 732.108(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1991), and the trial court's refusal to honor Scruggs' birth certificate as conclusive proof of paternity, an issue which the First District did not address.

Acknowledging that the action to inherit is a separate remedy from a paternity action to establish support, we should not merely assume that the same statute of limitations applies to each. The action to inherit is a distinct statutory cause of action, not within the contemplation of the bar imposed by section 95.11(3)(b). The trial court erred by construing section 95.11(3)(b) as applying to frustrate [Scruggs'] effort to establish paternity solely for the purpose of inheritance. Estate of Smith, 640 So.2d at 1154.

Sua sponte, the First District also addressed the constitutionality, under the "access to courts" provision of the Florida Constitution, of applying the limitations statute to prohibit Scruggs from seeking an adjudication of paternity in the probate proceeding:<sup>5</sup>

[Scruggs'] right to inherit did not vest until Smith died in 1992. . . . It is well established that a statute of limitations will not begin to run until the occurrence of the last event which gives rise to the cause of action. . . . This maxim is inconsistent with an application of section 95.11(3)(b), since the statute purports to bar the action four years after [Scruggs] attained the age of majority, an event which . . . took place some thirty-five years before [Decedent] died. Preemption of [Scruggs'] claim by use of a statute which never allowed the claim to arise offends the Florida Constitution. We reached this result on access to courts grounds. Id. at 1155-56.

---

<sup>5</sup> While Scruggs had argued due process and unrelated equal protection issues in the First District, Scruggs had never raised an "access to courts" challenge to section 95.11(3)(b), Florida Statutes (1991). See infra p.24.

In what is likely dicta, the First District also expressed concern that applying the limitations period would "place a burden on an illegitimate child seeking to inherit, not shared by legitimate offspring" thereby raising the specter of an equal protection problem. Id. at 1156.

The First District concluded:

Therefore on both statutory construction grounds and constitutional grounds we hold that section 95.11(3)(b) may not be utilized to bar [Scruggs'] action for inheritance. Since her petition was timely for purposes of the Probate Code, she may proceed. Id. at 1156.

Believing that the First District has erred and that the First District's holding has broad probate, estate planning and constitutional consequences, petitioners ask this Court to quash the decision of the First District and remand the case to the First District with instructions to affirm the final judgment entered by the trial court.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Born in 1932, neither respondent Scruggs nor anyone acting on her behalf, made a paternity claim against or sought child support from the Decedent, Charles W. Smith, during Scruggs' entire minority. Moreover, when Scruggs reached the age of majority in 1953, she did not at that time make any paternity claim against Decedent. Indeed, at the time that Decedent made his Last Will and Testament in September 1991 (R.1-5), Scruggs, who by that time was fifty-nine years old, still had made no claim of paternity. Thus, Decedent made his Will, naming specific beneficiaries, unaware of any paternity claim by Scruggs. Decedent died in January 1992, presumably comforted by the knowledge that his estate would be distributed according to his Will.

It was not until Decedent's considerable estate was probated that Scruggs, for the very first time, sought to declare herself "the natural daughter of Decedent," to revoke his Will and to take under the intestacy laws as an heir. (R.17-22). The trial court held that Scruggs' attempt to adjudicate paternity in probate was barred by the statute of limitations for paternity actions, section 95.11(3)(b), Florida Statutes (1991), which requires that adjudications of paternity be brought "within FOUR YEARS" "with the time running from the date the child reaches the

age of majority." The First District erroneously reversed, holding that Scruggs' paternity claim was not time-barred, thereby sanctioning Scruggs' attempt to thwart Decedent's testamentary intent when he is no longer able to reaffirm it or to defend himself from her paternity claim. This Court should quash the First District's decision.

Scruggs attempted to establish paternity "by an adjudication" in the probate proceeding, as provided in section 732.108(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1991). Ipsa facto, Scruggs' attempt to establish paternity "by an adjudication" in probate is "[a]n action relating to the determination of paternity" as provided in section 95.11(3)(b), Florida Statutes (1991). Therefore, under the plain language of section 95.11(3)(b), Florida Statutes (1991), Scruggs' paternity action in probate is barred because she first asserted such a claim more than four years (indeed, more than thirty-eight years) after she reached the age of majority.

The First District erred by finding the statute of limitations inapplicable to paternity actions in probate. Nothing in the language of section 95.11(3)(b), Florida Statutes (1991), or elsewhere, suggests that the statute is only applicable to adjudications of paternity under the child support statutes, as the First District held.



The First District unnecessarily reached the constitutional issues of "access to courts" and equal protection as these issues were never raised, briefed, or argued in the trial court. Thus, this Court should find section 95.11(3)(b), Florida Statutes (1991), applicable, quash the First District's decision and decline to reach the constitutional issues. However, if this Court reaches the constitutional merits, the Court should hold that section 95.11(3)(b), Florida Statutes (1991), as applied here, does not violate Scruggs' right of access to courts. Under this statute Scruggs had the right to bring a paternity claim any time from her birth through four years post-majority. Thus, Scruggs had access to courts had she timely availed herself of it. Moreover, Scruggs demonstrated that she did have access to the courts by trying to establish paternity using one of the other alternatives available to her in probate under section 732.108(2)(b); however, she failed to prove that the Decedent had acknowledged paternity in writing. Thus, Scruggs was not denied access to the courts, she was simply unable to prove her claim. Finally, application of this statute of limitations did not retroactively reduce the time which Scruggs had to seek an adjudication of paternity.

Although it is unclear whether the First District's discussion of equal protection is holding or dicta, it is

clear that the First District's equal protection reasoning cannot withstand this Court's scrutiny. Neither the equal protection clause of the federal or Florida Constitution is implicated by this valid statute of limitations. Indeed, without a valid statute of limitations on paternity claims, a decedent would have no way of knowing whether his testamentary plan will be followed because he could never be certain that an alleged child would not make a post-death paternity claim when the decedent is unavailable to defend himself or to reorder his estate. Concomitantly, without a statute of limitations, an adult paternity claimant has no incentive to make a pre-death paternity claim knowing that under Florida law, once the decedent becomes aware of the paternity claim, he can nevertheless determine not to include the alleged child in his will. The adult paternity claimant, free of any statute of limitations, would be better served to wait and first assert paternity after death, when the decedent could not contest it or change his estate plan to exclude the alleged child. This is exactly what Scruggs did here. Thus, the statute of limitations for paternity claims "represents a carefully considered legislative judgment as to how" the balance between the rights of the out of wedlock child and the rights of decedent can "best . . . be achieved." Lalli v. Lalli, 439 U.S. 259, 99 S.Ct. 518, 527 (1978).

This Court should find that section 95.11(3)(b), Florida Statutes (1991), bars Scruggs' belated attempt to adjudicate paternity in probate and should quash the decision of the First District Court of Appeal.

#### ARGUMENT

I. ON ITS FACE, SCRUGGS' PETITION IN PROBATE TO "ESTABLISH BY AN ADJUDICATION" THAT DECEDENT WAS HER FATHER IS BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS, SECTION 95.11(3)(b), FLORIDA STATUTES (1991), WHICH APPLIES TO "AN ACTION RELATING TO THE DETERMINATION OF PATERNITY."

As late as 1974, a child born out of wedlock could not seek an intestate share unless the alleged father had acknowledged the child in writing. § 731.29, Fla. Stat. (1973). Beginning in 1974, several amendments to the probate statutes increased the number of ways by which an out of wedlock child could prove paternity in probate,<sup>6</sup>

---

<sup>6</sup> At common law, children born out of wedlock could not inherit from their father. In re Horne's Estate, 149 Fla. 710, 7 So.2d 13, 15 (Fla.1942). It was not until 1933 that the legislature provided that "illegitimate" children could inherit from their father if the father acknowledged in writing his paternity. Ch. 16103, Laws of Fla. (1933). The law essentially remained unchanged until 1974 when the legislature revised and consolidated the laws relating to wills, intestacy and the administration and distribution of estates. In 1974, the legislature created section 732.108(2) which provided that a person born out of wedlock is a child of the father if the parents were married before or after the child's birth or the paternity was established by adjudication. Ch. 74-106, § 732.108, at 220, Laws of Fla. Section 732.108(2) was amended in 1975 by, inter alia,  
(continued...)

culminating in the present statute, section 732.108(2), Florida Statutes (1991) (hereafter "section 732.108(2)"),<sup>7</sup> which provides three specific ways for an out of wedlock child to prove paternity:

For the purpose of intestate succession . . . [t]he person is also a lineal descendant of his father and is one of the natural kindred of all members of the father's family, if:

(a) The natural parents participated in a marriage ceremony before or after the birth of the person born out of wedlock, even though the attempted marriage is void.

(b) The paternity of the father is established by an adjudication before or after the death of the father.

(c) The paternity of the father is acknowledged in writing by the father.

Scruggs conceded that her mother had never married the Decedent. In her amended petition, she did allege that "paternity was acknowledged in writing by decedent" (R.42), but the trial court granted summary judgment because there

---

<sup>6</sup>(...continued)

adding that paternity could be adjudicated before or after the death of the father. Ch. 75-220, § 11, at 511, Laws of Fla. In 1977, the legislature again amended section 732.108(2) by adding that the paternity of the father could be established for inheritance purposes through written acknowledgment by the father. Ch. 77-87, § 7, at 167, Laws of Fla.

<sup>7</sup> Unless otherwise noted, reference is to the 1991 Florida Statutes.

was no evidence to support this claim. (R.166).<sup>8</sup> Thus, the issue came down to whether the statute of limitations, section 95.11(3)(b), Florida Statutes (1991), barred Scruggs from having paternity "established by an adjudication" in the probate proceeding. § 732.108(2)(b), Fla. Stat. (1991). Twice the trial court held that such an adjudication was barred by the statute of limitations. (R.38-40, and 117-18). The First District reversed, finding the statute of limitations both inapplicable and unconstitutional. The issue is now squarely before this Court.

**A. On Its Face, The Statute Of Limitations Applies.**

The general "Limitations of Actions" statutes are found in Chapter 95, Florida Statutes, which by its own terms is applicable to any "civil action or proceeding" and provides that any action or proceeding "shall be barred unless begun within the time prescribed in this chapter." § 95.011, Fla. Stat. (1991).<sup>9</sup> See Reynolds Fasteners, Inc. v. Wright, 197 So.2d 295, 298 (Fla.1967) (where no express

---

<sup>8</sup> Scruggs did not challenge on appeal to the First District the trial court's holding that she failed to prove paternity by written acknowledgment.

<sup>9</sup> This same provision provides that a different limitations period is applicable only "if a different time is prescribed elsewhere in these statutes . . . ." Because the time for bringing actions relating to paternity is specifically provided for in Chapter 95 and nowhere else, Chapter 95 applies to bar Scruggs' claim for paternity.

limitation, general limitations act applies). The specific provision concerning limitations on paternity actions, section 95.11(3)(b), Florida Statutes (1991) (hereafter "section 95.11(3)(b)"),<sup>10</sup> provides:

**Actions other than for recovery of real property shall be commenced as follows:**

. . . .

(3) **WITHIN FOUR YEARS**

. . . .

(b) An action relating to the determination of paternity, with the time running from the date the child reaches the age of majority. (Emphasis added).

Ipsa facto, the establishment of paternity "by an adjudication" in a probate proceeding, as provided in section 732.108(2)(b), is "[a]n action relating to the determination of paternity" as provided in section 95.11(3)(b). Indeed, the First District itself characterized the question as whether "section 95.11(3)(b), Florida Statutes (1991), bars [Scruggs] from bringing an action to determine her paternity for purposes of intestate succession." Estate of Smith, 640 So.2d at 1153 (emphasis added). Therefore, on its face, section 95.11(3)(b) is

---

<sup>10</sup> Unless otherwise noted, reference is to the 1991 Florida Statutes.

applicable and bars Scruggs' action in probate to determine paternity.<sup>11</sup>

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