0A 6.5-25

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NOS. 84,385 and 84,386 (Consolidated)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

FILED SID J. WHITE APR 18 1991 CLERK, SUPREMECOURT

Chief Deputy Clark

IN RE: THE ESTATE OF CHARLES W. SMITH, Deceased

DHLE S. WILSON and HAROLD "BUDDY" JIMMISON, CO-PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVES, H.H. ADAMS, FLORA C. JONES, LOUISE G. SMITH, FRANK O. YOUNG, ALMA YOUNG, his wife, CLYDE S. HICKS and HAROLD "BUDDY" JIMMISON, Individually,

Petitioners,

vs.

SHIRLEY I. SCRUGGS,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST' DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA AND ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA DISTRICT CASE NO.: 93-731

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

"The state's objective to avoid stale claims, however, is not valid justification for the discrimination it inflicts on illegitimate since their right to support is a continuing right renewing itself until the child becomes 18." <u>Id</u>. at 1227.

More evidence of the fact that a statute of limitations cannot rur until a right is vested, or has accrued, appears in <u>West</u> at 1228, where the court states:

"The only proper application of the statute of limitations to child support claims would be to those claims that have accrued in the past but which are not adjudicated. The state could properly say that a claim for child support not made within a certain time after it accrued is barred."

Florida's announced position is thus that a claim must have accrued before a statute of limitations can bar it. Any other position would be contrary to logic.

In the instant case, it is clear that the Petitioner's claim to her father's estate did not exist prior to his death. Section 732.101, Florida Statutes, specifically provides that the decedent's death is the event that vests an heir's right to intestate property. Petitioner's father died on January 18, 1992. Clearly, her interest as an heir vested on that day. Garris v, Cruce, *supra*, at 786; In Re: Estate of <u>Burris</u>, *supra*, at 156. Statutes of limitation presuppose substantive rights and forbid the exercise thereof if action is not taken to do **so** in accordance with the applicable statute. Puleston v. Alderman, 4 So.2d 704, 707 (Fla. 1950). Without substantive rights, there is nothing against which the statute can work.

The Trial Court's holding that any claim Petitioner may have to her father's estate is barred before her status as an heir and

her right to intestate property came into existence files in the face of common sense and the above cited legal principle announced by the Florida Supreme Court. Such a result cannot reasonably be the intent of the legislature.

C. ANY SUCH INTENDED APPLICATION OF SECTION 95.11(3)(B), FLORIDA STATUTES (1991) WOULD BE UNCONSTITUTIONAL, A CONSTRUCTION WHICH SHOULD BE AVOIDED IF POSSIBLE

It will be seen from the following sections that if applied in the instant case, F.S. § 95.11(3) (b) would be unconstitutional. Under the legislative interpretation rule that a statute should be construed in a manner **so** as to promote its constitutionality, the statute should not be applied to probate proceedings. <u>In Re Seven</u> <u>Barrels Of Wine</u>, 83 So. 627, 632 (Fla. 1920), stated the rule as:

"A statute must be so construed, if fairly possible, as to avoid, not only the conclusion that it is unconstitutional, but **also** grave doubts upon that score."

Likewise, <u>Durring v. Reynolds, Smith & Hills</u>, 471 So. 2d 603 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) states at 605 that where a statute is fairly susceptible to two interpretations, one of which would render the statute unconstitutional, the courts should avoid the unconstitutional interpretation and adopt a construction that leaves the statute valid.

II. THE FIRST DISTRICT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT THE PATERNITY STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS, SECTION 95.11(3)(b), FLORIDA STATUTES (1991) IS NOT APPLICABLE TO PROCEEDINGS UNDER THE PROBATE CODE

In large part, the arguments advanced as to Point I above are applicable to and adequately answer the challenges mounted by Petitioners in this Point, and will not be repeated.

Several misconstructions asserted by Petitioners, however, must be addressed. At page 20 of Petitioners' Initial Brief, it is stated that Chapter 95 applies to "any" civil action or proceeding, a statement which is inaccurate: F.S. § 95.011 specifically states that Chapter 95 applies only to civil proceedings where a different time is not prescribed elsewhere. The Probate Code states in F.S. § 731.102 that it is a "unified" coverage of its subject matter, and in fact provides a multitude of limitations, including limitations which have been shown to apply perfectly well to Scruggs' case, and to bar Scruggs' action if not commenced within certain periods. Petitioners then state at page 22 of their Initial Brief that a general statute of limitations on paternity claims (presumably F.S. § 95.11(3) (b)) existed and was applicable, without authority for such statements. Scruggs has shown in Point I that F.S. § 95.11(3) (b) is not a statute of limitations as to Probate Code inheritance claims, and that it does not apply - the legislature is much more likely to have known these facts than Petitioners' allegations, as the legislature wrote the "unified" Probate Code.

Petitioners do note one of the arguments in support of the above Point not heretofore advanced by Scruggs at their Initial Brief, pages 21 and 22, by stating that the right to adjudicate paternity in probate was not recognized until January 1, 1976

(incorrectly noted as 1974 in Petitioner's Initial Brief), thus the legislature could not have possibly intended F.S. § 95.11 to apply to probate heirship proceedings - such proceedings did not exist at It is difficult to refute the logic of the First the time. District, and it is suggested that Petitioners' argument does not succeed in doing so. Petitioners argue in contradiction thereto that the legislature is presumed to know that a general statute of limitations on paternity claims existed and was applicable. Such reasoning is circular and presumptive - there is no authority that the statute of limitations was applicable, and much authority, as is noted in Scruggs' Point I supra, that the statute of limitations was not applicable, and that the legislature was in fact aware of its inapplicability to probate proceedings. Indeed, at the time of passage of F.S. § 732.108(2) in 1974 (effective in 1976), the statute of limitations, F.S. § 95.11(9) (1974) still referred to limitations in "Bastardy Proceedings", not to adjudications of paternity for inheritance purposes. It is submitted that the legislature knew Well that Chapter 95's Bastardy limitation did not apply to Probate Code heirship proceedings.

Petitioners then cite <u>King v. Estate of Anderson</u>, *supra* and <u>Garris v. Cruce</u> *supra*, which were adequately addressed in Point I. In addition, Petitioners appear to suggest to this Court that <u>Rogers v. Runnels</u>, 448 So.2d 530 (Fla.5th DCA 1984) supports the proposition that F.S. § 95.11(3) (b) applies to probate proceedings. <u>Rogers</u>, however, is clearly inapplicable, and does not stand for such a conclusion. <u>Rogers</u> is a declaratory judgment action brought

pursuant to Chapter 742, the civil paternity chapter; it has no nexus with the instant case.

Similarly, J.E.W. v. Estate of Doe, 481 So.2d 921 (Fla.1st DCA 1984), cited by Petitioners, is inapplicable. That, too, is a declaratory judgment action, a "pure paternity action", and is unconnected with the Probate Code. The facts of <u>J.E.W.</u>, however, are worthy of note. Although the <u>J.E.W.</u> at 481 So. 2d 921 is a per curiam opinion without facts, J.E.W. appeared previously at 443 So. 2d 249 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983). Therein, a probate action under F.S. § 732.302 to establish J.E.W. as a pretermitted child, as well as a Chapter 742 action for paternity, was filed. The court rejected a commendably creative argument by J.E.W., and held that J.E.W. was not a pretermitted child. Thereafter, at 250, the court suggested that a declaratory judgment action, not a F.S. § 732.302 action, may be the proper vehicle to achieve a number of benefits, e.g. social security payments, which would be due J.E.W. if he were established as a child of decedent. The 481 So. 2d action, therefore, can reasonably be surmised to be such action, distinct from a Probate Code action; all parties and all counsel are the While a party to the action was the Estate of Doe, it was same. not a probate action, and while Petitioners appears to implicate probate by quoting from the opinion at 921 that "The appellant cannot seek support from the estate of his deceased father", the reasoning of the court is based upon the long accepted law that a duty of support dies with the obligor, and the estate is not liable for support on a continuing basis. Flagler v. Flagler, 94 So. 2d

592 (Fla, 1957).

<u>J.E.W.</u> is important for one aspect, however. It refutes Petitioners' doomsday argument that if the First District's decision is allowed to stand, no one will ever be able to create a testamentary plan in safety again, for one would never know whether an alleged child will appear, after the putative father's death, snare a part of the estate, and destroy the testamentary plan at a time when the decedent cannot defend himself. The fact is that one can create a testamentary plan omitting a child from a will, whether the child is legitimate or illegitimate. It has been shown § 733.109 provides limitations for will contests, that F.S. regardless of legitimacy. If no revocation action is brought within the times provided, the testamentary plan is protected. That is the point in the case at bar - it is alleged that the Decedent's purported will is not valid - this is not his testamentary plan.

It therefore appears that Petitioners cannot argue there is no limitations period effective as to Scruggs herein - there is. Petitioners argument is therefore relegated to the outmoded Rule Against Perpetuities "possibility" analysis - is there any case which may be devised as to which a limitation under the Probate Code does not exist? It is respectfully suggested that the remedy for such a case is legislative refinement to the Probate Code.

III. SECTION 95.11(3)(b), FLORIDA STATUTES (1991), IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL IN ITS APPLICATION TO RESPONDENT
Scruggs finds it possible to conditionally agree with Petitioners as to this one Point - the First District unnecessarily reaches the issue of constitutionality - because F.S. § 95.11(3)(b) does not apply to Probate proceedings. Because the statute does not apply to probate proceedings, the constitutional issues need not be considered. In the event that this Court considers the constitutional issues, however, they will be argued hereafter.

A. THE FIRST DISTRICT PROPERLY CONSIDERED THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF SECTION 95.11(3)(B), FLORIDA STATUTES (1991)

In the First District, Scruggs strenuously argued that the application of F.S. § 95.11(3)(b) to her by the trial court constituted a retroactive application thereof, and was thus unconstitutional. SB. 6-8. The First District correctly held that such application to Scruggs was a retroactive application, and therefore invalid. While the grounds argued were due process, access to courts is a portion of one's due process rights, and therefore the First District's decision is a refinement of the arguments made by Scruggs and responded to by Petitioners.

This Court stated in <u>Bystrom v. Diaz</u>, 514 So. 2d 1072, 1075 (Fla. 1987) that, "Due process requires that a taxpayer be given a meaningful opportunity to be heard." Both this Court and the United States Supreme Court have held that such due process right includes access to courts. This Court recognized the due process/access to courts duality in <u>In Re Advisory Opinion To The</u>

<u>Governor</u>, 509 So. 2d 292 (Fla. 1987), which at 296 quotes from the Governor's request the following language regarding the due process challenge to Florida's former sales tax on services:

"(1) Due process - Whether a general tax on the sale or use of services consumed or enjoyed in this state, including legal services, impermissibly burdens the right to legal counsel and access to the courts in violation of the due process clauses of Article 1, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution and the 14th Amendment to the U.S. Constitution."

Access to courts is regarded as being a portion of the due process guarantee provided by the due process clauses of Article 1, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution and the 14th Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. In <u>Newton v. McCotter Motors, Inc.</u>, 475 So. 2d 230, 231 (Fla. 1985), this Court upheld a decision of the First District regarding due process and access to courts by stating:

"The First District reversed and upheld the constitutionality of Section 440.16 against challenges that it denied due process of law, to wit: access to courts,...We agree." Emphasis added.

Similarly in the later case of <u>Smith v. Dept. of Health &</u> <u>Rehabilitative Services.</u>, 573 So. 2d 320, 323 (Fla. 1991), this Court stated:

"The United States Supreme Court held that Boddie had been denied access to courts as an element of due process..."

While the First District's sagacity as to constitutional issues well exceeds that of counsel, thus its use of access to courts rather than due process, the essential argument was specifically made by Scruggs in the trial court (R. 87-88), specifically made by

Scruggs at the First District (SB. 6-8), and specifically responded to by Petitioners (PB 3-5). It was thereafter specifically accepted by the First District at 1155-56, and termed access to courts, a portion of Scruggs' due process rights. It is therefore incorrect that the issue was never raised, briefed or argued by Petitioner and Scruggs.

Likewise, the issue of equal protection was raised by Scruggs in the trial court, albeit as Petitioners correctly point out as it relates to the issuance of Scruggs' birth certificate. It is argued that the general concept of denial of equal protection was raised below on numerous occasions, although not stated with the precision of an appellate brief. The holding of the First District in <u>Smith</u> at 1156 that the application of § 95.11(3) (b) would impose upon illegitimates a burden not imposed upon legitimates is substantially similar to Scruggs' arguments as to denial of due process and equal protection at the trial court and at the First District. While no Florida case on point has been found, Scruggs suggests that <u>Clark v. State</u>, 572 So. 2d 1387 (Fla, 1991) may be examined for guidance. Therein, it is noted at Footnote 1 that an issue was raised in general terms upon appeal, as opposed to the specific terms of the instant case, and the District Court considered same.

Notwithstanding the fact that the issue was raised in general terms, even if these issues had not been raised, they would constitute fundamental error, thus allowing their consideration initially in the appellate court. Sanford v. <u>Rubin</u>, 237 So. 2d 134

(Fla. 1970), cited by Petitioners in support of the proposition that absent fundamental error, an appellate court cannot consider for the first time on appeal constitutional issues (a proposition which will be considered in more detail below), contains a definition of "fundamental error" often cited. It holds at 1046 that:

""Fundamental error," which can be considered on appeal without objection in the lower court, is error which goes to the foundation of the case or goes to the merits of the cause of action."

In Sanford, the error raised for the first time was raised on oral arguments, not by briefs as in the instant case. In Sanford, the error asserted was the constitutionality of a statute because its title did not mention the right to award attorney's fees, clearly not a fundamental error. In the instant case, the error, it is asserted, does go to the foundation of the case, that is Scruggs' denial of her right to prove her paternity, the merits, the very heart, of her cause of action. It may therefore be raised for the first time on appeal.

Further, notwithstanding the characterization of the error as fundamental, an appellate courtmay consider, sua sponte, any error which it finds obvious on the face of the record. <u>Dovle V. State</u>, 19 FLW D2478 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1994). In <u>Gordon V. Omni Equities</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 605 So. 2d 538 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), the court raised an issue sua sponte during oral arguments. It thereafter invited supplemental briefs, and ruled upon the issue **so** raised.

In addition to all of the above, these issues may be

considered by this Court in its discretion, as once considered by the appellate court, issues may then rightly be considered by this Court. <u>Savoie v. State</u>, 422 So. 2d 308 (Fla. 1982); <u>Cantor v.</u> <u>Davis</u>, 489 So. 2d 18 (Fla. 1986). Indeed, the sentence following Petitioner's quotation from <u>Cantor</u>, supra on page 26 of their Initial Brief is as follows:

"...deemed waived. Once this Court has jurisdiction, however, it may, at its discretion, consider any issue affecting the case." Id at 19.

B. SECTION 95.11(3)(B), FLORIDA STATUTES (1991), AS APPLIED HERE, VIOLATES SCRUGGS' RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS OF LAW UNDER ARTICLE I, SECTION 9, FLORIDA CONSTITUTION AND THEREUNDER HER RIGHT OF ACCESS TO THE COURTS UNDER ARTICLE I, SECTION 21, FLORIDA CONSTITUTION, AND UNDER THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT, U.S. CONSTITUTION

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